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PUBLIC MEETING
CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:
This meeting of the Election Assistance Commission is called to order, if you would all stand with me and say the Pledge of Allegiance.
***

[Chairwoman Christy A. McCormick led all in attendance in the recitation of the Pledge of Allegiance.]

***

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:



I’ll now call the roll, Commissioner Masterson?

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:



Here.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:



Commissioner Hicks.

VICE-CHAIR HICKS:



Here.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:

And I am here.  We have a quorum.  Do I have a motion for the adoption of the agenda?

VICE-CHAIR HICKS:



I move that we adopt the agenda. 

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:



I second.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:



Any discussion, changes? 

VICE-CHAIR HICKS:

No.  Oh, thank you for reminding me Commissioner.  I do have one addition to the agenda.  I would like to move the reports of the Board of Advisors and Standards Board to below the welcoming remarks. 

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:



Any objection?

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:



No, I second that.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:

Any discussion?   So adopted, without objection.  Any other discussion?

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:



No. 

VICE-CHAIR HICKS:




No.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:

We’ll take a vote on the adoption of the agenda.  All those in favor aye?  Any opposed?

[The motion carried unanimously.]

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:



The agenda is adopted.  

So, I just want to thank those of you who are here for our public meeting after a couple of very productive days in Williamsburg for our reconstitution of our Standards Board and Board of Advisors.  The meetings were, I think, quite successful and well participated in, and especially appreciate the comments that we received from folks from all over the country and our territories.  And also, I want to especially thank the staff of the EAC for all its hard work in putting together our meetings and this public meeting.  So, thank you so much for your hard work.  We know that we stretched you all to the limit and you have made us extremely proud.  So, thank you very much.

I’ll now pass this over to Vice-Chair Hicks, if he has any comments to make.

VICE-CHAIR HICKS:

Thank you Chairwoman McCormick.  I want to thank the staff, as well.  I think that they did a phenomenal job of pulling together this
the Board of Advisors meeting and the Standards Board meeting and the public meeting within a month.  It’s unheard of, I attended an Election Center conference last week where I was told that it takes up to two years to plan something like this, and it was done within a month and it’s truly amazing.  And we -- I want to thank the staff for doing that.

We have a great deal of work to do today.  This is our third public meeting in three months, which is just unheard of for the EAC, and I think phenomenal, and it goes to the hard work that both Commissioners and I myself went to do here.  Each meeting, we have done nothing but move forward with our agenda, and today, we’re going to hear from giants in the field of elections on a transition report that they have done for us.  We are going to hear from the Standards Board.  We’re going to hear from the Board of Advisors, and I look forward to hearing from everyone.  We’re going to hear from staff on a report on the urban/rural issues that have been facing the nation.  And I’m looking forward to a spirited discussion on that.

And with that, I want to turn it over to Commissioner Masterson.

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

Thank you, I’ll keep my comments brief, but I want to thank those members of the Standards Board/Board of Advisors that have stayed to attend the hearing, and thank you all and the other members of the Boards for your participation in the meeting in the last day-and-a-half.  I can tell you, from my time as a staffer at the EAC, and now as a Commissioner, that the interaction and input with the Boards is vital to the work we do.  We cannot move forward as an agency without receiving that input, both, obviously statutorily, but more importantly, with those relationships, and understanding the challenges that election officials are facing on the ground moving forward.  And so, I look forward to working with both of those Boards as well as getting the TGDC back up and running, so that we can write the next set of Voluntary Voting System Guidelines and get new and innovative systems out to the field, as the election officials made clear over the last day-and-a-half that they expect.  So, thank you all for your time, and I also echo the comments for the agency staff, who did yeomen’s work pulling this meeting together at a wonderful location and getting everyone here safely to participate in the meeting.  So, I thank all the staff for their incredible work in getting this done and applaud their effort.  Thank you.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:

Thank you Commissioners, with that we will hear from the Board of Advisors, Mr. Neal Kelley.

MR. KELLEY:

Thank you Madam Chair.  I want to extend a thank you to the Commissioners for moving our items up on the agenda for travel issues.  So, we appreciate that, and to Vice-Chair Hicks for his leadership as the DFO on the Board of Advisors.  We appreciate very much your assistance on that Board.


We had I think a very productive meeting, albeit a little bit short, but we crammed a lot of information in that short time.  And I do want to go through the Committees that have been established and have been staffed with the members of the Board.  And if you’ll indulge me, I’d like to read their names into the public record, because I think that will be important for them, as well.


The Resolution Committee, I will be serving on that committee, Michael Winn will be on that, as well, Barbara Bartoletti, Gregory Moore and Patricia Timmons-Goodson will serve.  
On the Executive Director Search Committee, I will be chairing that committee.  Linda Lamone, Michael Winn, Helen Purcell, Jim Dickson and Sarah Johnson will be serving on that committee.

On the Voting System Standards Committee, that will be chaired by -- the chair is coming, but will be serving, Jim Dickson, myself, Michael Winn, Tom Schedler, Chris Thomas, Tim Mattice, Marc Gurthrie, Matt Boehmer and Wendy Noren will be serving on that. 
On the Election Certification Committee, Linda Von Nessi, Kathryne Harper and Marc Guthrie.  
Our Parliamentarian will be Michael Yaki.  
Our Bylaws Committee will be Richard Pilger from DOJ, Secretary Denise Merrill, Jon Cox, Michael Yaki and Sarah Johnson. 
 And on our Proxy Committee, Wendy Noren, David Blount, Jan Kralovec.  
And then, finally, our TGDC will be Linda Lamone and Helen Purcell.  

Two Committees had an opportunity to meet this afternoon, which was helpful.  The Executive Director Search Committee had a very productive meeting, and we’re off and running in that regard, and we hope to get some recommendations to your body here shortly.  We’re going to work on that in the next couple of weeks and get that done. 


We also had a meeting of our Bylaws Committee and the main issue there is, we’re trying to make our meetings a little bit more efficient and take out the kind of difficult process of passing resolutions, I think, in that group, and we’re moving towards passing motions, as opposed to resolutions.  So, we’re moving forward in that regard, as well.


We did get an update and we had an opportunity to discuss the transition report, which I know you’re going to hear about here shortly, and I just want to extend a thank you to Chris Thomas and Doug Lewis for their hard work on that.  We had a good discussion in our Board meeting about that transition.  I think, if I could just add, I think it’s helpful to get that out publicly, and my understanding is, I think your Commission is going to do that here shortly.


So again, we had a very good meeting and I want to thank all the members of the Board of Advisors.  And I know this is redundant, but your staff has been fantastic and has been very supportive in this entire meeting, so thank you again.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:



Thank you, Mr. Kelley.  Do any of the Commissioners have any


 questions for Mr. Kelley?
COMMISSIONER McCORMICK:

I will, just one, I promise.  I know you got a flight to catch.  Can you give me a sense of, you know -- the Board getting back together after three years, can you give me a sense of the areas of priority that they saw for the EAC, as the discussions went on, you know, once you got the committees laid out and what not?  What were the general themes around where the EAC needed to focus and the areas of discussion for that?

MR. KELLEY:

So, I know this first one is easy, it’s the Executive Director.  I mean, that’s at the top of our list and working to get some recommendations to you.  But, right after that, Commissioner, definitely is the clearinghouse issue.  I think that has been at the top of the agenda.  All of the Board members discussed that at some length today, and we’d love to see that expanded, and that process expanded.  So, we’re hopeful that that’s going to be at the top of your agenda here shortly, as well.  

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:

Anything else from the Commissioners?  Thank you very much.  Have a safe trip back home.

We’re going to now proceed to old business, of the approval of the minutes for March 31st, 2015, public meeting.  Do I have a motion to accept those minutes? 

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

I would move to accept the meeting minutes from the previous meeting. 

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:



Do I have a second?

VICE-CHAIR HICKS:



I second.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:

Any discussion?  Hearing none, I’ll take a vote.  All those in favor of approval of the minutes for the March 31st, 2015, public meeting say aye.  Opposed?  No one is opposed.  

[The motion carried unanimously.]

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:



The meeting minutes are approved. 

We’ll now have the report of the Chief Operating Officer -- Acting Executive Director, Ms. Alice Miller.  Ms. Miller?

MS. MILLER:

Thank you Madam Chairwoman.  I would just say that the brunt of my report is basically a thank you to the staff.  If you would just indulge me for a minute, I do have a prepared statement that I’d like to read that recognizes staff and their efforts.


So, good afternoon everyone, this month has been a whirlwind of activity that was mainly composed of the planning, organization and coordination of the Standards Board and Board of Advisors meeting that just ended earlier this afternoon.  There is not enough that can be said for the entire staff of the EAC, who, with approximately four weeks’ notice pulled together, worked hard and demonstrated the true meaning of teamwork.  The obvious end result of this was the success of the meetings.  The accomplishment of this first meeting of both Boards since June 2011 was short of a miracle.  Here’s how it happened.  
The first “Save the Date” for this meeting was sent out on March 19th by e-mail to all of the members of both Boards, who had returned the Notice of Representation as of that time.  At that point we indicated that this meeting that was held in Williamsburg, Virginia, would be in Washington, D.C.  Little did we know that there was absolutely no availability in the greater Washington, D.C. area that would accommodate a meeting of this size, especially at the government rate.  We hit a big OMG.  We knew we had to be relentless.  The Commissioners insisted, this is going to happen, because the “Save the Date” has gone out and nothing will change that.  In comes our Chairwoman “Let’s look at Williamsburg.”  For no particular reason, “Just, let’s see if there is something available there.”  Voila, we had a venue.  Site unseen, but we had a venue.  So, now the hard part really begins.  Now, we need other things.  How about the members to respond to the “Save the Date” and return of deposit forms?  I know, how about another “Save the Date” notice to the membership “Deadline is approaching and we really need your deposit forms, really, we do” so that we can begin making the travel arrangements, identify the best flights to work with schedules, work with schedules, work outside of the schedules, schedule flights, cancel flights, reschedule flights, certify that funds are there.  Has anyone ever heard of government red tape?  Sure you have.  That said, we had to work with our contract and procurement office, the travel system, and the myriad of government entities to ensure that all contracts were signed, secure a hotel, arrange for meals, have transcription and audio services available, secure supplies, copy, copy, copy things for the binders, prepare presentations, recruit presenters, prepare an agenda, conduct an election, nothing hard about that. 
[Laughter]

MS. MILLER:

Oh, but we need a ballot and a voting system and tabulators and privacy booths and a check-in list and a means to qualify the voters.  Let’s see, what will work for that?  Maybe ink, good idea, bad idea.  Let’s go with it.  Oops, can’t find ink.  E-poll books, that will work just fine.  Oh my, we need candidates, but first we need a nominating process, a nominating form, certification of nominees, when will they vote, where will they vote, how will they vote, contact the membership, done, thanks to the Nominating Committee of both Boards.  Okay now, we have candidates.  So, let’s review the ballot.  Will there be a place for write-in?  Will there be a place -- plenty of spaces for write-in.  Check-in, bylaws and write-ins are permissible for the Executive Board.  Are they?  I think not, maybe, boy, it’s been a long time since we’ve done this.  But really we do -- do we really have to have an election for election officials?  Okay, now let’s check out the ballot, it’s okay.  Really, it’s not.  There’s a problem.  What’s the problem?  Let’s fix it.  Let’s review it.  Speak now or forever hold your peace, by one Commissioner.  We have a ballot.  Don’t forget to indicate sample on the sample, done.  
Board of Advisors only one contested case, can’t we all just get along?  Oh, we have a withdrawal.  No ballot needed for Board of Advisors.  We have officers.  Congratulations.  But now, we need to cancel the ballot, call the vendor, contact the office who has so generously agreed to provide the election support.  We’re all on the same page, we’re happy about that successful election.  Win and win big, that’s the key.  


I think you get the picture.  That said, there’s absolutely no doubt that the 20 or so staff employees at the EAC are the most dedicated and hardest working individuals, not only in Federal Government, but anywhere.  Along with the Commissioners, who were also on hand to assist with copying, collating, reaching out to the membership on various matters, getting into the weeds to help make this happen, created a support team beyond commendation.  So, I want to take this time to recognize those individuals who have been working nonstop, e-mails back and forth all hours of the night and early morning to get this done.  They are amazing, and it is that team effort that has worked to sustain the agency for the past three years when we were in a state of limbo.  
The CFO team, Annette and Wendy, worked hard with the GPO making sure that we had a process to get the copying done through Kinkos.  They are back at the office, holding down the shop, but were available to follow-up on travel, respond to the Bureau of Public Debt, and ensure that the contracts were in place, so that we could, for example, eat for two days and thanks for responding to questions that came up that needed their attention.  
Diana, who is also back at the office holding things down there, but for her immediate turnaround on requests for materials and procurement, we would not have been -- we would have been without things such as the briefing books, badges, certificates and other such items.

Pat Leahy for his support with the AVT review for the grants update, and also, for having the foresight to remind us that material needed to be in a format for review by some members who might require assistive technology during the meeting.  Therefore, we got it out to them prior to the meeting, and he was very significant with that role.


Brian, who worked tremendously hard to make sure that we had the charters in place; no charter, no meeting, according to FACA, and to inform the public and media of the meetings, both, through their website and through our press releases and other means.  

Mohammed and Henry for all the IT support and follow-up to make sure that we could have access -- full access, such as Wi-Fi, who knew that would be an issue, during the meeting, and coordinating the information presented during the meeting, so the PowerPoints and other presentations.  They were also available to help put those wonderful things together that we call binders.  For that, we thank you. 


The Testing and Certification Division, Jessica and Megan, hands-on support with substantive presentations both during the meeting and needed twitter support for the past few days, we thank you for that.  Also, with late-night assistance with the binders, I’m sure you have a few paper cuts, Jessica, thank you.


Senior staff, you all know who you are, thanks for providing the Boards with the information regarding your respective divisions and for providing me with all the data requested, so that I could update the Boards with unquestionable details on where we are and where we’ve been -- what we’ve been doing since 2011.  You continue to be awesome.  
Mark Abbott for providing program support to the Grants Division with that grants presentation, and for assisting with the grant expenditure report, for that, we say thank you.  
And for what I call the FFFF, that is the fabulous, fearless and fantastic five; Deanna, Bert, Robin, Sheila, Shirley, there are no words to describe your tenacity over the past weeks to ensure that every “I” was dotted and every “T” was crossed, to make sure that nothing went unanswered.  Without your perseverance, adherence, insistence, sense of urgency, resolve, tenacity, determination and smiles this would not, could not have occurred.  You ladies deserve all the credit, and then some.  I’ll say it again.  You ladies deserve all the credit, and then some.  You honestly deserve some time off.  Sorry, no promises there…
[Laughter]

MS. MILLER:

...but you deserve it.  So, for the FFFF, merci beaucoup, gracias, danke, asante, no matter what language, it means, most sincerely, thank you.  

And just one final word, I think it’s also necessary to thank the Board members who worked collectively with the staff and the Commissioners to make this meeting happen, and to also recognize Winn Sowder and her staff, who provide election support we needed to conduct the election, you know, free and fair elections, transparent and secure, we are grateful to you and your crew.  

And last, but certainly not least, thanks and applause to our Commissioners, who, without the determination and directive energy to get the Boards reconstituted and convene the meeting we would not be here today.  Essentially, thanks to all.  

That concludes my report.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:

Thank you Ms. Miller.  Do we have any comments or questions from the Commissioners?
COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:



No, I think she said it perfectly, thank you.

[Laughter]

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:

Thank you so much, and thank you, Ms. Miller, for your leadership in all these matters in keeping the Commission going.  Thanks so much. 

MS. MILLER:



Thank you.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:

We’ll now move to new business.  We’re going to consider the research report Urban/Rural Study from Ms. Karen Lynn-Dyson.   Ms. Dyson?
MS. LYNN-DYSON:

Good afternoon.  Good afternoon Chair McCormick, Vice-Chair Hicks and Commissioner Masterson.  I’m very pleased to come to you this afternoon to present the results of a HAVA-mandated Section 241 research study that examined issues relevant to voting and administering elections in rural and urban areas.  Excuse my voice, it’s allergy season.

The Research Department of the Research, Policy and Programs Division originally began its consideration of this study in 2010.  At that time EAC staff convened a small working group of researchers who had studied these issues and local election officials who represented both rural and urban jurisdictions.  
During this working group meeting participants reached a common perspective on what defined an area as rural or urban, and agreed that there were four subject areas for which there would be a large variance in how elections are administered.  The four areas were voter outreach, personnel, as in staffing, polling places and technology.  There was a general agreement that the funding for administering elections is an overarching concern for urban and rural areas alike.  
EAC research staff determined that the best means of gathering additional feedback on this issue would be to conduct a national survey of election officials or LEOs.  The survey conducted in January of 2013 was sent to a little over 2,000 -- 2,700, pardon me, rural and urban election officials.  The 70-question survey was completed by 874 local election officials. 
 A few interesting highlights regarding the election officials and the areas they represented:  The average tenure as a local election officials was 13.1 years.  The range was from less than one year to 55 years.  53 percent of the respondents were elected, 47 percent appointed.  The size of the jurisdiction, in terms of registered voters that respondents represented, ranged from less than ten to 1.9 million with an average jurisdiction size of 41,353.  The types of voting allowed in their respective districts was fairly evenly split, 50/50 for those that allowed no excuse absentee, absentee voting with an excuse and early voting.  Nearly all local election officials that were classified as being located in an urban area, 84 percent using the definition we agreed upon, from the U.S. Department of Agriculture’s Economic Research Service, indicated that they were located in a rural district.  Most interesting, however, was the jurisdictions that were classified as rural, described themselves as either being in a rural or mixed area.  We conjectured that they defined urban as intercity.  Over 87 percent of the respondents indicated that they had full responsibility for administering elections, including voter registration, voting machines and ballots.  The remainder indicated that they shared that responsibility either with the state, and/or county.  

Highlights of the responses survey participants gave related to their voter outreach activities, which was defined as an activity the office engaged in to provide information to the voting public.  These included: the fact that over 70 percent used paid print advertising; 70 percent use election office or county websites; and about 56 percent participated in community events as a way of reaching out to voters.  
At the time of the survey, which was 2013, the number of survey respondents who used social media for voter outreach was roughly equivalent to the number who used a toll-free telephone line, which was 13 percent.  
Rural election officials relied on paid print advertising more than urban districts.  And while urban local election officials invested more in websites, social media and participation in community events.  Almost 90 percent of the urban and rural election officials said that they formed partnerships with local -- with school related groups, and urban election officials were more likely to partner with non-profits than were rural election officials.  
The vast majority of the local election officials surveyed indicated that they spent $5,000 or less on voter outreach, for both the 2010 midterm and the 2012 general election.  Seventy percent of the urban local election officials and 75 percent of those rural districts reported spending $1,000 or less on voter outreach in 2012.  Finally, it should come as no surprise that two-thirds of the respondents indicated that staff availability and time, as well as costs, was a moderate to big problem in conducting voter outreach.

Highlights from the portions of the survey that addressed personnel concerns included the fact that the overall number of personnel who were available, paid full-time, paid part-time and paid temporary, did not vary greatly from 2012 -- from 2010 to 2012.  Not surprisingly, local election officials in urban districts reported higher numbers of staff, on average, than those in rural districts.  
To me, it was somewhat surprising, however, to find that only approximately 15 percent of the local election officials reported borrowing staff from other government departments in 2012.  The average number they borrowed was five.  
For poll workers, the average number of poll workers in urban districts was 191.61, while in rural districts it was 33.99.  Overall, over 95 percent of those surveyed indicated that poll workers were paid, and 68 percent noted that they were paid for training.  Interestingly, local election officials in urban and rural and in large, medium and small districts paid at a similar rate, $9 an hour.  However, LEOs from larger and urban districts reported paying higher one-time stipends than those from rural and small districts.  
Of those surveyed, they were fairly evenly split in their responses regarding whether poll worker recruitment was easy or difficult and there was no difference found between the urban and rural election officials regarding their average rating for difficulty in recruiting.  Survey findings did seem to show that small districts may have graded poll worker recruitment as being less difficult than those did from medium or large districts.

The factors which the largest portion of LEOs reported -- pointed to as a big or moderate problem with poll worker recruitment was Election Day hours being too long and having to recruit a number of poll workers from each political party.  Further, a higher percentage of LEOs from urban districts, that is 47.68 percent, said that split shifts were available while 36.22 percent from rural districts said they were not.


Regarding methods for recruiting poll workers, both from the urban and rural local election officials indicated that word–of-mouth and other volunteers were primary sources.  Officials in urban areas relied to a similar degree on high schools, volunteer organizations, the election office’s website and on government agencies.  In contrast, rural local election officials overwhelmingly relied on word-of-mouth and volunteers, while high school students and volunteer organizations as sources for recruiting poll workers came in as a distant third or fourth choice.  Using classified ads, colleges and local businesses were relatively limited sources of poll workers for both urban and rural officials.  
Finally, election officials from smaller districts generally felt it was easier to recruit poll workers than did those from medium and large size jurisdictions.


The questionnaire concluded with an open-ended question offering respondents an opportunity to provide their contact information should they be interested in participating in more in depth interviews regarding the topics that were addressed in the survey.  It was noteworthy that 250 individuals or respondents indicated that they would be willing to do so.

So, based on the final report that the contractor HUMRRO provided to the EAC on April 15th, 2013, I would recommend that the Commissioners vote to approve and accept this report.  
Thank you. 

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:

Thank you Ms. Dyson.  Can I have a motion for approval of this report?

VICE-CHAIR HICKS:

Can we discuss it a little bit?  Okay, I’m still on the Board of Advisors.  So I move that we approve this report. 
COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:



I’ll second.

 CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:



Discussion.  

VICE-CHAIR HICKS:

Ms. Dyson, I do have a couple of quick issues with the report.  I think it’s absolutely fabulous.  There’s one -- a couple of questions that I have about that, in terms of, in your testimony it says that 70 percent of jurisdictions use paid advertising to get -- recruit poll workers.  It’s my hope that we can…

MS. LYNN-DYSON:





Vice-Chair?

VICE-CHAIR HICKS:



Um-hum.

MS. LYNN-DYSON:



If I might, 70 percent use paid print advertising for voter outreach. 

VICE-CHAIR HICKS:

Okay, so for voter outreach.  So, I think of it as the when you do voter outreach you possibly can recruit poll workers, as well, in terms of I’m hoping that when -- and we can hopefully do this in terms of with the EAC getting more information out, of print advertisement is not being used as much anymore, in terms of getting, you know, information out.  So maybe, you know, if they can do things on the Internet, using Twitter, using Facebook, in that regard, as well.


So, the main question I have is, that with the report being two years and two weeks old, is it still valuable? 

MS. LYNN-DYSON:

I think is absolutely is, Vice-Chair Hicks.  I think that a couple things that I would point out over-archingly rural areas, urban areas, medium sized jurisdictions, large jurisdictions have remained fairly constant and certainly will in the foreseeable future.  I think that what I find particularly useful about this piece of research dated -- somewhat dated, although it may be, is the fact that there is still qualitative information in here that I think will really help guide us in terms of the kinds of programming we might provide to these various categories of local election officials, in terms of best practices information, case studies information, creating a platform in which they can connect with one another, and there can be interconnectivity among them around best practices and, quite frankly, however they so choose to define themselves, because I think it was interesting that this study pointed out, that how they may be defined in a technical fashion is not necessarily the way they view themselves, vis-à-vis urban, rural, but there is incredibly valuable information that they can gain from one another.  

So, that remains timeless. 

VICE-CHAIR HICKS:

My last question, basically, is, last week when I was in Chicago I heard from Lance Gough and David Orr on their recruitment efforts, and I forget which one actually said this, but at one point they were paying for training and the poll workers $350, and then, they upped it to $600.  And I forget what exactly it was for.  But, my question goes to, for those jurisdictions that are giving stipends, is that for -- when they do that for the entire day, are they -- are you getting more recruitment giving a stipend or charging -- or giving folks the money per hour? 

MS. LYNN-DYSON:

I believe the answer to that from the study standpoint was that it was…
VICE-CHAIR HICKS:

And I guess it goes more to, if you -- if you’re paying someone an hourly rate, based on what I’ve known about election officials, it’s not going to basically be an eight-hour day.

MS. LYNN-DYSON:

I absolutely think that what we found in the study, I think bears out in the field and that is stipends.  I think stipends -- one-time daily stipends appear to be the preferred way, from the local election official standpoint.  And I think it’s probably, I’m going to guess, as much as anything administratively easier to handle than dealing with the hourly rate, and as you point out, I mean, could very well be a 20-hour day.  So, stipends are the preferred from an administrative standpoint, preferred way to go.

VICE-CHAIR HICKS:



That’s all the questions I have for now. 

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:



Commissioner Masterson, do you have questions?

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

Yeah, just a couple questions.  And thank you for your testimony.  

The first is, you know, we’ve talked a lot about making the EAC’s research tangible, right, making it applied, so that it can help serve the election officials.  What kinds of steps do you foresee the EAC can take with this research, specifically, to help election officials and apply this research in a tangible, real way? 

MS. LYNN-DYSON:

Thank you for that question, Commissioner.  I think that in a tangible way, as I indicated -- as I mentioned a few moments ago, what I like about this particular piece of research is that it is qualitative in nature, and I think that’s the kind of thing that is of most interest and of most use to this field of stakeholders/practitioners we serve.  And as a consequence of what I take away from this is the development of a series of best practices, of cases studies on issues, perhaps, as varied as how do you do your split shifts, how do you handle your split shift issues, what’s some of the history with that.  For those jurisdictions, those states, those counties that might be looking for possibilities of that, can we provide them some information by our clearinghouse about what’s worked, what hasn’t worked.  
Some of the other things that came to light in this study around the problems with the necessity of political party affiliation, and how do we in the --- how do we help the field learn more about best practices via case studies by just information sharing through our clearinghouse; how do you handle this, how do you address/alleviate the difficulties you’ve had to encounter with this political party representation.  

Another item, time off -- getting time off from your paid job, I mean, there’s a lot of experience, and I think best practice, successful practice, case study ideas that we can share with the different configurations and models people all over the country have been able to use to get in partnership with local governments, with local big corporations, getting these kinds of volunteer partnership arrangements.  Well, let the EAC share that information.  We know that from this study that that’s what’s going on and that’s what’s of interest, let’s share it. 
COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

So, I know the EAC, back in ‘06, ’07, maybe, did what was a pretty successful poll worker recruitment training guide that election officials, I think, used pretty heavily, and we had a good response to.  
MS. LYNN-DYSON:



Right.

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

Is there a way to merge some of the information here, and actually update some of the information here?  I noted, in your testimony, that you spoke to the fact that, at the time of this study, social media wasn’t terribly heavily used, you know.  That may or may not have changed.  I would guess, it’s at least changed a bit, right, for some of that?  Would you recommend, do you think, we can move forward with both updating this information in this study, but also, updating and improving our poll worker recruitment and training materials in time for 2016 for election officials? 

MS. LYNN-DYSON:

I do, Commissioner Masterson, and I think that we can do that really -- fairly quickly and easily.  Maybe not thoroughly and comprehensively, but we can do it so that it’s really relevant in getting to the field some basic information about how people are using social media effectively, how they are using young people effectively, and some of the methods that they are using to do that, what they are doing around training, some new training methods.  And even in the last 48 hours I had at least three Board members come up to me and talk to me about their interest and willingness to share their training materials.  My idea would be, certainly, to quickly build and provide a platform and EAC to serve as a repository, send us your training information, send us your training materials, and how you do your online training of your poll workers too, I think.  Let’s provide a repository of information on that.  As I mentioned, as you know Commissioner, in my remarks yesterday, I hope that we can -- the EAC can be working quickly with folks like Michigan, and their eLearning center, to share and disseminate that kind of information.  
So those are all -- while it won’t be neat and tidy, in the form of another manual, that, seven years ago took us about two years to create, I don’t think that we have to reinvent this.
COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

Thank you.  I mean, I would just share with you, I mean, we’ve heard the same comments over the last two days from the Boards, and it’s my hope and expectation that the EAC move forward quickly to identify the area that we can have an impact there and work with those election officials to have that impact.  So, thank you. 
CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:

So, I have a couple of questions.  First of all, did the report look at the age differences in rural versus urban designated areas, at all?  And was there any difference in terms of poll workers in those designated areas?

MS. LYNN-DYSON:


No, they did not look at poll worker age, and they did not technically look at the age of its personnel.  As you heard in my remarks, they did look at years of service, from one year to 55.  I presume nobody is one year old and nobody is only 55 doing this work, but no, not specifically. 

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:

We also heard, over the last couple of days, a lot about outreach to local election officials.  And I know, just from based on my own experience, that we still have jurisdictions out there that don’t even have computers.  So, what are some ideas for us that we might consider, in terms of outreach to and the different kinds of outreach we can do to urban designated areas versus rural designated areas?

MS. LYNN-DYSON:

I think that -- I have two minds about that Madam Chair.  I think that while, remarkably, there are a lot of rural areas that still don’t have that kind of communication capability, we -- to the extent that, we, have the resources to do so, should be reaching them and, quite frankly, should be reaching them probably just through old fashioned mail, snail mail.  That said, I think that -- and I think you’ve heard me say this, maybe in one or two settings, talk about experience, not that I’ve had directly, but I’ve heard of people working in countries all over the world where they have remarkably gone from -- that they’ve jumped, they’ve made that leap in technology, and they’ve had available iPhones and cell phones and all, and they’ve just passed -- they’ve gone -- they’ve passed over a whole set of intermediary steps using other types of communication.  And so, to the extent that we’re able, that it’s appropriate, and we’re capable, the whole use of apps with rural folks who may have cell phone capability, may have iPhone capability, that’s a possibility, and it’s one that I think is worth exploring.  So, it really is using, you know, perhaps 19th Century technology and 21st Century technology, in combination. 
CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:

What do you see as the next steps after this study that we might immediately follow up on?

MS. LYNN-DYSON:

What I would like to see immediately, I think, is something that Commissioner Masterson touched on, really has to do with the poll worker recruitment work and very immediately in the next nine months us doing some case studies, some best practices, building on -- and maybe, as we begin to build a clearinghouse platform, using this as the pilot for doing that -- let’s build this first piece around poll worker training.  We know everyone has to do it.  We know there are enormous pieces of information, materials, resources that are already out there.  Let’s find a mechanism for sharing that, and let’s, not in the most general way even, of saying poll worker recruitment.  We can do that.  We can splice that down by topic.  Let’s have some information sharing around split shifts, around compensation for doing this kind of work.  

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:

I think one of the things we also heard was to publish success stories from our jurisdictions who use our information.  And I think that is a good idea, and I think this is one place where we could follow-up on that, where we provide these jurisdictions with information and best practices and data that we could follow up with them and find out these successes and cost savings and stories that have come out of our providing them that information.  I think that would be valuable for the image of the Commission, and for other jurisdictions to hear how our information may be helpful to them, as well.
MS. LYNN-DYSON:

And I think that many times you -- I look on the bookshelf and I look at the 2007, which I think it actually is on the spine, where it says 2007, and I think, wow, that was many years ago, but then, low and behold, I’ll get an e-mail via our HAVA info box that will say, “I use this document all the time.  When are you going to update it?  There’s still good stuff in there, but it really needs to be updated.  Can you give me more information?”  And that’s always a great affirmation, that it’s still out there, it’s still being used, people are hungry for the information.  And I think in this instance some things have changed in seven years and some things haven’t; namely social media, and, you know, the advent of more and more involving the young people and recruiting young people in the next wave, next generation of poll workers. 

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:



Thank you.  Do the Commissioners have any other questions?

VICE-CHAIR HICKS:

Thank you for indulging me.  I just have one, I guess, comment and question.  When you say that the folks say that, when are you going to update it, is there a way that we can as Commissioners help you to update the materials?  You know, if there’s anything that we can do, please let us know, in terms of updating the materials.  I think that, you know, moving forward that would be absolutely fantastic.

My other piece, and I was trying to find it again, I was reading through this a couple of days ago, I thought I saw it, in terms of – but, maybe I was making it up -- in terms of, is there anything in the report that lists out -- and I guess I’ll go to it with the FEC – when you are giving donations, it makes you say what your job title is.  And so, I was interested in knowing when the voter -- when the outreach is going, is there any sort of thing of saying that we are recruiting poll workers and we have these poll workers now, but what are their titles.  So, is it usually retirees, or if they list it as students, are they listing it as lawyers?  I’m just interested to find out what sort of demographics there are in terms of determining what the poll worker is ultimately -- what their occupations ultimately are. 
MS. LYNN-DYSON:

I personally have never seen that, but that’s a fascinating thing.  And what I will do is, kind of anecdotally, I can certainly reach out.  As you probably are aware, on our election administration voting survey we do ask, and have for a number of years, asked about the average age of poll workers, but would be most interesting to know what their occupations are.  And, kind of, as an adjunct to that, Commissioner Hicks, I was a bit surprised about the finding related to partnerships.  I would have thought there would have been a deeper, richer, more extensive network of partnerships, which local election jurisdictions had forged with, you know, big corporations, in town, or non-profits in town or, quite frankly, even with the high schools and things like that.  And that was just -- that was one -- and I said that in my remarks -- that was somewhat of a surprise to me with that those relationships weren’t more extensive and deeper.  And obviously, from that -- I mention that because obviously from that you would have been able to get the sense of what people’s occupations were.  

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:

If there’s nothing else from the Commissioners, we’ll move to vote on accepting the Urban/Rural Study.  All those in favor of accepting this Urban/Rural Study dated April 15th, 2013, say aye.  All opposed?


Hearing no opposition, the report is accepted.  

[The motion carried unanimously.]

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:

Thank you so much, Ms. Dyson.  We’ll now to move to hearing a report of the Standards Board that just met over the last two days, and here to make that report is Mr. J. Bradley King from Indiana, who is the Chair of the Executive Board of the Standards Board.

Mr. King.

MR. KING:

Thank you, Chairwoman McCormick, Vice-Chair Hicks, Commissioner Masterson. 


The Standards Board is alive and well. 

[Laughter]

MR. KING:

The Board convened yesterday with 87 of its 110 members present, and having established a quorum, proceeded to elect its nine-member Executive Board.  I’ll identify those individuals during my presentation on committee work.  The Board then proceeded to elect officers, Edgardo Cortes as Secretary, Sandy Wesolowski as Vice-Chair, and myself, Brad King as Chair.  

We also proceeded to establish a number of committees and were very gratified by the high level of interest that was shown by the members of the Standard Boards, who indicated their desire to participate in one or more of these committees’ work.  We, as an Executive Board, had some difficult decisions to choose between several good people to serve.  So, we were very grateful for that showing of interest and support.
I’ll go through the committee membership but also note whether they met and what recommendations they had and actions were taken.  


The Bylaws Committee is chaired by Sandy Wesolowski, an Executive Board member.  The other members are Maryellen Alan, Lynn Bailey, Jackie Gonzales, John Merrill, Gary Poser and Howard Sholl.  The Bylaws Committee recommended that the Standards Board adopt bylaws, which the Standards Board did proceed to do.  It also recommended that the membership be solicited for suggestions for bylaws amendments with a deadline of June 1st to respond with specific amendments that could be made to the bylaws at future Standards Board meetings. 


The Nominating Committee consists of Jerry Schwarting Chair, an Executive Board member, Lynn Bailey, Steve Harsman, Lisa Kimmett and Rob Rock.  The Nominating Committee also serve as the Election Certification Committee.  They did not meet, but will be prepared at future meetings if there is a need for nomination and election processes.


The Resolutions Committee consists of Edgardo Cortes, Executive Board member, as Chair, Brian Caskey, Layna Valentine-Brown, Grant Veeder, and Justus Wendland.  There were no resolutions presented, and so, the Resolutions Committee did not meet, but, again, will be prepared for that function at future meetings.


The Executive Director Search Committee consists of Peggy Nighswonger, Executive Board member, as chair, Edgardo Cortes, Gail Fenumiai, Mark Goins, Steven Harsman, Lisa Kimmet and Jim Silrum.  The Executive Director Search Committee has begun an aggressive schedule, so that during the next month it will begin the process of consideration of the applicants for this position, and of course, will report back, further, as its work proceeds.


The VVSG Committee is comprised of Paul Lux, Executive Board member, as its chair, and the remaining eight members are Nikki Charlson, Robert Dezmelyk, Lance Gough, Keith Ingram, Brandon Johnson, Marian Schneider, A.J. Starling and Reynaldo Valenzuela, Jr.  The VSSG had a high level of participation by both members of the committee and members of the Board at large when it met and took several actions and made recommendations.  The first was creation of liaisons with TGDC, the Technical Guidelines Development Committee, and NASED, the National Association of State Election Directors, recognizing the important role that both organizations have played and continue to play in the development of voting system standards.  The VVSG Committee also established three working groups to address accessibility issues, software independence and security.  
The VVSG Committee, as well as the membership at large, felt strongly that the process for developing new standards was best accomplished in small bites and components.  And so, the proposal recommended by VVSG was to work closely with TGDC, so that, instead of each body considering a multi-hundred page document, that, instead, individual components, as work was completed by one body, could be promptly forwarded so that work would not wait for the entire document to be completed.  And it was hoped it would expedite the updating process by taking that approach.

The Proxy Committee consists of Gary Poser, Executive Board member, who serves as chair, Lynn Bailey, Carolyn Fawkes, Joe Gloria, Patricia Wolfe.  There was no business for the Proxy Committee at this meeting, but, again, it stands to ready to serve when the next meeting occurs. 


Finally, under Section 221 of HAVA, the Standards Board, working with the Election Assistance Commission and NIST, designates two members of TGDC.  The individuals designated by the Standards Board are Robert Giles and Greg Riddlemoser.  The role of the TGDS is one that came up repeatedly in Board discussions, and so, we are counting on those representatives to be effective conduits of information, both to and from the Standards Board and TGDC.  

I’d like to address some of the general comments that were made by the membership during a session we had earlier today to identify priorities for the EAC.  The first priority identified was with regard to the improvement of the clearinghouse function by the EAC.  And, in addition to some comments made by previous speakers, I’ll note there was focus on improving the website for greater information and ease of use by members of the public, and specifically, by election officials, and also serving as an effective compiler of state information on frequently requested topics. 


The second priority identified was, of course, with regard to standards and certification.  And again, the point was emphasized that the most sensible and effective way for the adoption of new standards would be consideration of components of the existing standards so the work is not delayed by a requirement to complete the entire process before another body would proceed to consider and offer comments regarding it.

Finally, with regard to outreach, Standards Board members felt that there were great opportunities, as Chairwoman McCormick referenced earlier, to highlight success stories that involve the EAC.  There are many accomplishments that local election officials and state election officials can point to as originating with information that was obtained through the process of gathering and disseminating information at the EAC, and we think these stories need to be told.

I conclude my remarks by adding to the thanks to EAC staff, in particular our DFO Chairwoman McCormick, and the staff who did amazing things to allow us to organize our committees and conduct our work in exceptionally short periods of time.  Thank you and I’ll be happy to address any questions.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:

Thank you Mr. King.  Do we have a motion to accept Mr. King’s report?
VICE-CHAIR HICKS:



I move that we accept Mr. King’s report. 

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:



I’ll second. 

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:


Any discussion or questions for Mr. King?

VICE-CHAIR HICKS:

I just have a couple of questions.  Thank you again for serving as chair, and I, you know, would be remiss if I didn’t acknowledge my Chair, Linda Lamone, Vice-Chair Neal Kelley, and Sarah Ball-Johnson, who was elected as secretary.  


And, in saying that we had the easiest election ever, in that we had one person per office.  And I want to commend you and the entire Standards Board for the election that was held.  It was truly an amazing thing to watch.  I was very upset that I was not an eligible voter, at that time, to participate in it.  

[Laughter]


But I just wanted to ask a couple of questions in terms of, when people were using QR codes, were there any sort of hesitation or any sort of anomalies that occurred in terms of people saying, “Well, I don’t really want to do this, I really don’t want to do this, I really don’t want to do this?”

[Laughter]
VICE-CHAIR HICKS:

But, in terms of the card that I got to see, I forget how I got it, but I just picked it up, in terms of, it looked really amazing, in that folks were able to use this QR code, or just use a paper ballot.  Is -- can you discuss that a little bit, in terms of how that election was actually run?

MR. KING:

Thank you, yes it was very exciting to have a choice of voting methods that reflected the variety of voting methods that are used across the country, in the different states and territories.  


I do not know how many people chose particular options, but during the short period of time that I was at the polls, there seemed to be no questions or hesitations.  And certainly, we had no reported problems.  So, it seemed to go, as all elections hope to, very smoothly.  

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:



Other questions?

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

Yeah Mr. King, first, thank you for your report and your willingness to serve as the chair of the Standards Board.  I want to acknowledge to you how pleased I am, one, that you’re the chair but, two, that the Board is up and operational after the three years.  I know you were one of the most vocal critics of the EAC decision regarding the Boards, along with NASED, and I want you to know that I’m pleased that the Boards are back functioning as they should be, per HAVA, and running and that we’ve addressed that, so that they will continue to run regardless of the status of the Commissioners.  I think it’s important to acknowledge that, to you and to the Board of Advisors, as well.


With that said, I appreciate sort of the list of priorities.  I’m going to ask you kind of the same question I asked Mr. Kelley, and that is, with the clearinghouse and with, you know, addressing the standards, was there any other issues/topics that the Standards Board felt strongly about as they went through their priorities?  And the follow-up to that, with the clearinghouse, is, it’s one thing to create a great clearinghouse, it’s another thing to get it out to the people so they know it’s around.  Was there any discussion around the Standards Board, about how the EAC can better reach out and make itself known to the members, not only of the Standards Board, but in each one of the jurisdictions across the country?

MR. KING:

Thank you Commissioner Masterson.  I should begin by saying thank you for acknowledging a squeaky wheel. 

[Laughter]

MR. KING:

And I am pleased that that and other wheels can start turning instead of squeaking.


With regard to the clearinghouse, yes, there were some specific ideas that were discussed by the Standards Board membership.  Internally, the creation of a working group or a committee comprised of several Standards Board members who expressed interest in assisting with the creation and enhancement of the clearinghouse functions.  There were specific suggestions with regard to outreach, using various forms of media, but the primary focus, again, was that there are many untold success stories, and that the best thing the Commission can to do enhance and improve its image is to get those stories out.  

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

Thank you, that’s all I have.  Again, thank you very much for your time and being willing to testify here today.

MR. KING:



Thank you. 

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:

I want to thank you, Mr. King, for all of your input while we were getting these meetings together, and your willingness to serve, first, as our temporary chair, being that you were selected and did not get to serve before the Boards were terminated previously, and all of your help in moving us forward and getting this done.  It was greatly appreciated and we can’t thank you enough for your patience with us and for your support.  Going forward, we’re looking forward to working with you, as well.  
So, thank you very much, and thank you very much to all of the Standards Boards’ members for their enthusiasm.  We saw a lot of interested members in getting things moving again at the EAC, and we appreciate that, and we will look forward to your input and the Board’s input, which is absolutely vital to the work that we do at the Election Assistance Commission.  So, thank you so much.

MR. KING:



Thank you, Madam Chair.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:

Are there any other comments, questions?  Hearing no further discussion, I’ll take a vote of accepting Mr. King’s report from the Standards Board.  All those in favor say aye.

[The motion carried unanimously.]

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:

No one is opposed, so we accept your report.  Thank you so much.

We now have the privilege of hearing from, as Commissioner Hicks said, two giants from the Election Administration community.  They were selected to do a transition report.  They are a Transition Team for us.  Given that we are new Commissioners and that there had been a hiatus for quite some time on the EAC without Commissioners, we asked them to come in and do a study of just the structure of the Commission, and our core competencies, what our mission should be, and recommendations for moving forward, for the new Commissioners.
So, with that I’d like to introduce Mr. Chris Thomas, the Election Director for Michigan, and Mr. Doug Lewis, who, I think, everyone knows, is the Godfather of election administration.  We’d like to hear from you and the report that you have for us on the transition at the EAC.

MR. LEWIS:
So is -- are we going to make an offer they can’t refuse?  Is that sort of where we are? 

[Laughter]

MR. THOMAS:



That’s where we are.

MR. LEWIS:

I’m not going to go into any of our background.  The world knows our background and it’s printed here and all of that.  
So, let me say to you, in this report, if there’s something you don’t like blame it on me.  If there’s something you like, give Chris credit.  I need him to keep working to pay my Social Security, you know. 

[Laughter]

MR. LEWIS:

And so, being retired means that I’ve got to have me vested in those who are still working.


When you do a report like this no one escapes, you know, the microscope.  And so, this is not a gotcha report.  I mean, I need to repeat that.  You all heard us say a little bit in the Board meeting -- the joint Board meetings yesterday, but we’re not looking to say “aha,” you know.  We’re looking more to say what you all asked us to do; do a critical review of the agency to find out where we are, and where we can be, and what you ought to be focused on in the near term.  And so, that’s sort of where we are.

Now, Chris and I we’ve been around since Washington was fighting the British so, you know, we sort of know this process, a little bit.  See this is it, when you get old enough to be a poll worker, the other side, you know, tells you that they don’t want to be referred to in age.  What is -- let me also make sure that we stay on the message of what we’ve done.  Anything that is in the written report takes precedence over anything we may say orally, because the truth of the matter is, we were jointly together and agreed on anything that was written in the report.  And while we may answer individually or say things individually, if it differs from what is written, the written takes precedence.  


We did not set out to do this report to look as a performance audit, because we didn’t have enough time, money and all of that to do that sort of thing.  It certainly is not an evaluation of personnel, and whether or not somebody is actually doing the job that they ought to be doing, and whether or not they ought to be hired or fired or any of that other stuff.  It’s not that.  Clearly, we did not see their work environment, in the sense of what they do daily and look at all of that and have enough time to understand that and to compare that and to look at that.  So, it’s not that.

What it is is a pretty good snapshot of the issues that are facing the agency, sort of where the agency needs to be in the near term, certainly, in terms of, if it’s going to have a chance to survive.  And let’s be honest here and admit here that we’ve got some policymakers at the Congressional level that have made it difficult for the agency to survive, and then, still want to kill it.  We don’t think that’s probably the right answer.  I’m going to say to you, you know, we’ve been at this a long time, and it’s not that either one of us are in love with the Federal Government as an answer to anything, but at the same time, there is a role here for this agency to play.  There is a role that is vital to making democracy work better in America that has resources that really probably can’t come from anywhere else, an ability to share that information that probably can’t come from any other organization or operation, an overview of national looking at all of the various places that go, that certainly -- I mean, each state knows its own policies and its own procedures related to elections but doesn’t really sometimes understand how another state gets to the place that they do.  And this agency has that overview function that can really work well.  And so, that’s the kind of thing that is -- that’s sort of necessary to make us get better in election administration around the country.  And what we all want is a process that serves voters well and that’s fair, you know, that it’s equitable, that it doesn’t favor one party over the other, and yet, at the same time allows us to understand what works, what doesn’t work, to openly admit when there are problems and when we maybe haven’t done as well as we should do or can do, and to look at those.  And that’s what this agency, it seems to us, does for this.

And so, we’re going to go through the report that we did for you.  We’re not going to read that report.  We’re not going to go line for line.  You may -- we may read a sentence or two as we go along, but you all have read the report.  We’ve given it to you.  You’ve read the report.  What we’re going to do is discuss some of that, publicly, with you.  And rather than this just be one presentation and then another presentation that goes all the way through, Chris and I have sort of agreed that we’re going to ping in whenever we think it’s appropriate to ping in on a thought process or what have you, so that you sort of get a back and forth here.  Hopefully, it won’t be Penn and Teller, but, you know, it will be at least something that you all can relate to.  I want to do that so that I make sure that we don’t then end up having to go backwards and cover territory again and get to that.  At the same time it seems to me that as we do this if you all have got questions when we get to a section and you want to stop us at that point for questions, feel free to do that.  It’s -- I don’t see any reason that you all have to wait until we’ve given you the whole thing and before you decide that you may ask or comment or what have you.

And so, with that, let me say to you, we looked at and broke down functionally a way to analyze this for you and we concentrated first, on the first major area, was the organization staffing and work rules related to the EAC and took a look at those.  The second part of that then was looking at the core missions, the primary missions of the EAC, and what we believe is necessary for you all going forward.  And then, the third area was the other concerns area that we’ll sort of go over and do some of that.  Some of the other stuff, you have the written part and we may skip, and so -- just so that you know where we’re headed.

Attitudes; attitudes was one of those things that we looked at.  We were really quite frankly surprised.  An agency that’s been under attack, that has had no Commissioners, that had no policy direction, the attitudes of the staff were terrific, for all that they’ve been through.  Procedurally, what we did, is we first interviewed each of you, separately, as Commissioners, and then, we interviewed each of the full-time employees that work in the headquarters facility.  And, as a result of doing that, I think we got a pretty good picture about how people feel about the agency, and their role within the agency.  And so, we were quite impressed with the enthusiasm that your staff has, for, not only the job that they do, but the enthusiasm they have for you all, as new Commissioners.  That’s pretty remarkable given where we’ve been.  And so, I think Chris and I were both pleasantly surprised in looking at that.


It means to us that there is an ability for you to move forward.  Now, the problem, I think, of any -- anytime you’re talking about any governmental entity, but particularly at the federal level, because if you’ve ever worked with the Federal Government for very long, it has two paces, glacial and eternal, you know.  It just does, it’s the way it does things.  And yet, you all can’t afford that luxury in this.  The luxury that you have is that you’re here, and that we’ve got a short window of time, it seems to us, to prove to people the value of this agency and what it can do to contribute really well to the elections process.  Now, some of that’s already been done and been said and worked on.  It just hasn’t been publicly recognized and understood.  But, some of it is going to be stuff that you all are going to have to actually show the world what the agency truly can do with the resources available and to move forward quickly.  The key here is moving quickly.  You cannot afford the normal Federal Government pace and expect this agency to survive.  That’s the reality of this and so I think you’ll see that. 

Chris?

MR. THOMAS:

Yeah, I would echo Doug’s comments.  It was a pleasure to work with Doug on this, and it was a pleasure working with you and your staff on this.  
As I pointed out during the Board of Advisors meeting today, the Presidential Commission on Election Administration, the PCEA, you know, made it clear that election administration is a profession, and it is clear that your staff are professional election administrators, and that’s what they’re doing, just as much as state election officials and county and local election officials.  We were impressed, as Doug said, with the eagerness to do the work, the dedication to the mission, and they’re ready to roll their sleeves up.


And we made it real clear to them, as we tried to create a comfortable atmosphere for them to talk, that it was not a job interview, and that they could feel free to say whatever they liked about the weaknesses, the strengths, their hopes of where the agency would go.  And, to our minds, pretty much that was what we got and that was very refreshing.  So, they’re dedicated to the mission.  The work has already begun.  They’re very positive.  You’ve got a diverse staff, and they are election officials in their profession.  This is their careers.  So, it was a good experience. 

MR. LEWIS:

Unrestructured.  The agency went through the early phases of when it had to ramp up as a new federal agency, it had considerable functions to distribute a lot of money, and had some -- it also had some mandates to make sure that folks were replacing equipment that the Congress no longer wanted, and that they were buying appropriate stuff to go with that.  And so, during that period the agency grew in size and you all got up to give or take a few, roughly 60 full-time employees, and now, the staff is down to, I think, right around in the range of 25 full-time employees.  It’s somewhere in that neighborhood.  

Some of the hangover of the organizational structure that was there from the old days, with the larger numbers, left you all with a, for lack of a better term, a sort of top heavy staff.  Now, some of that is necessary, in regards that this is not an agency where you may employ hundreds and hundreds of doers, sort of like a local agency, in terms of running elections, but certainly, it seemed to us, we’ve got a little problem of too many at the top and not enough support or, or if you had unlimited funds, then it wouldn’t be too many at the top, it would be, you know -- but the appropriate limit of what you all have got in terms of budget, realistically, what Appropriations Committees are going to give you, means you’re probably going to have to restructure some of this.  And so, our level -- our approach to this is that you need to sort of reshape the agency.  You’re going to have to rethink how you’re going to do some of this and you’re going to have to figure out how to do it in order to get enough hands onboard to get all the work done because you clearly need munchkins.  You got to have people who are support staff who are really willing to dig in and dive in and deliver the stuff, and to do that within whatever the available dollars are that Congress is going to give you.  And so, you may have to reallocate resources and figure out how to reallocate resources.  And these are policy decisions that, then, you also meet with your management staff on figuring out.how do we get there, how do we do this, how do we make this still function well.  And so, we’re saying to you that some flattening of the organization probably needs to occur.  
CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:

Can I just break in here…

MR. THOMAS:

Sure. 

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:

...and ask you about, when you say a flattening of the organization, are we talking about numbers of FTEs, or are we talking about just the number of personnel, same amount of money, more personnel to do more functions?   

MR. LEWIS:

Congress and appropriators like to focus on FTEs.  I think that’s the wrong way to do this.  Quite frankly, we need to look at functions, wouldn’t you agree?  I mean, the key is, look at the functions you need to do, and then, we will have to help you convince appropriators that it’s – to quit focusing on FTEs and focus more on, here are functions that are vital to get the project and the work done and, therefore, here’s how we think we should spend those resources to get there.  And so, that means, in some cases, that you’re probably going to have to think about, there may be one, two, three, four positions that you may either eliminate or severely demote, you know, in order to get enough money to be able to do the function well.  And so, those are some of the things that just -- I mean, I’m glad that you all are doing it and not me, you know, but this is just the nature of the beast.  And so…

VICE-CHAIR HICKS:

So, Doug, one of the things that I know that from my time on the Hill that we ran into, as an issue with the EAC, was some of the statutory things that needed to actually occur for the Commission.  For instance, you have to have those four Commissioners there, General Counsel, Executive Director.  Other than that, I think everything is -- Inspector General, as well.  Other than that, it’s just what we consider to be essential employees, I guess.  
So, in that realm, you know, we’ve heard from the Boards, preliminarily, on some of the things that we want -- or that they think that we should be focusing in on; research, clearinghouse.  And this might be, you know, if you want to go into it, you know, what are some of your thoughts on some of the essential functions that we should be geared towards? 
MR. LEWIS:

Chris and I looked at the – there are at least four areas and there may be more.  I mean, the truth is, is I’m sure you had some recommendations bubble up from the Boards while we were here, and so, you may need to look at those.  But the four we know, in our mind, are valuable to making elections work well in America are these.  
Research, that research area has to be applied research.  I mean, there’s a lot of things that are interesting to know and a lot of things I would like to know, but if they don’t help us get to the objective of making elections work well, from the Presidential election, and in between, each time, so that voters have a good experience at this and elections officials have the best chance for success, then that’s really what we have to be aimed at.  And so, when we’re looking at this -- and I don’t mean to denigrate the academicians.  My God, you know, I’ve worked with a lot of them for a lot of years, and this is not that sort of thing, but if this agency, with its limited resources, is going to be effective, it needs to be applied research.  It needs to be things that are absolutely needed and wanted by the stakeholders out there, in order to get the functions done well.  And so, I think that’s what you’re seeing.  You’ve got your EAVS survey, the Election Day -- Election Administration Voting Survey that you do, that is marvelous.  It’s got a wealth of data in it.  It’s got so much data in it that we haven’t actually mined that data for all the things that we can.  Or even when we have, we may have it contained in one voluminous report rather than in special sections or special just breakouts that can become -- that people can find easily and use easily.  
And so, some of this is just taking the time to think through and/or listen to.  I mean, if you haven’t got an election official actually doing that and telling you how to do that, at least find out from them what is it they need, what is it they want?  It’s not just about election officials.  Tom, you and I have had this conversation.  It’s about a lot of other groups too and a lot of other stakeholders.  But it’s -- we got to get to the stuff that is really truly useful.  If you had unlimited funds, shoot, you could do all the academic studies in the world and we could mine that data for years and all of that.  We don’t have unlimited resources and we don’t have unlimited time.  So, we’re saying to you, we think the rapid fire approach is look for applied research.  That’s one.  

And before I go onto the…

VICE-CHAIR HICKS:

Before -- I want to just say, you know, I want to jump on one of the things that you just said, and go back to when I first met you, over 15 years ago, when we were trying to get what became HAVA, it wasn’t just election officials there, it was other stakeholders; it was election officials, it was advocacy groups, it was elected officials, themselves, election administrators, disability groups.  So, I think that that’s a great point that you’re making of that, there are other stakeholders that need to be brought into that realm of where we are going.  So…

MR. LEWIS:

You know, and Commissioner, I mean, I love the advocacy groups.  I love the people that are so in love with democracy they devote a lot of time and attention to it.  I think that’s wonderful that they do that.  Unfortunately, sometimes they forget that we cannot shade the process to favor their party or their point of view.  I mean, as election administrators out there, if you work in the election business at your level or at our level the truth is, is you’ve got to make sure that this process is neutral.  And so -- but they do have an important role to play.  And so -- and Chris, on any of this, at any point, that you’re ready to jump in, you just do so.  
VICE-CHAIR HICKS:

But I think that that’s a great point that you’re making, in terms of the groups that are out there using our data and mining our data, and so, how can we go about using them, as well, to see what else they need.  So, I think that that’s a great point that you’re making.

MR. THOMAS:

And I think when we then move into, you know, the clearinghouse and research can cross over, you should be gathering that information and putting it on your website, and doing more with the EAVS than what’s being done now.  As you get into the clearinghouse function -- we talked a little bit about the ambassador’s program.  Now, my view of that’s a little different than the one presented yesterday.  What I would see, using the Boards, for example, is to look for them to identify four or five top election officials in each and every state, and then, talk with them, not just to, you know, be your mules to carry out various documents to the world out there, but actually, to use that group to inform you of the type of research that’s necessary, the applied research.  And obviously that’s just one facet.  It would also be looking at the various advocacy groups, as Doug said.  So, the clearinghouse function needs to be both bringing people in to help you decide exactly where you want to go with your clearinghouse, and then, secondarily, yes, they can assist in becoming ambassadors to really carry the word of the EAC out there.  So, the clearinghouse has all kinds of opportunities there, I mean, just to bring together -- I think all the Presidential Election Commission data needs to come to your website, and you need to categorize that and catalogue it.  And also, work with the tools that they have provided. 


With your staff, one of the things we pointed out in there, there’s the sort of lining up skills and functions.  And one example I would give, and just as an example, I’m not sure exactly how it applies here, but you do have hours and hours of roundtables.  Now, nobody is going to sit down and watch six hours of a roundtable.  They’re just not going to do it.  But if they can be broken up into subject matter, and that’s where I would look for staff who has the -- that have the technology background that can edit video and create, you know, really get them into various chunks, categorize them.  There’s a lot of great information out there that came through the various roundtables.  
So, really, the clearinghouse is your opportunity to become the one-stop-shop for people that are looking at elections.  So, it would be much like EAVS.  So, do with it what you will, we’ll put it out there, we’ll put it out there in a usable form, and you’ll get both election officials, you’d get the academic community, you’d get media, who are always asking the same questions over and over again, and this will be a great place for them to come.  And you’re going to get election officials finding the best practices.  

MR. LEWIS:

Yeah, I think what we said in this was, quite frankly, that you all haven’t yet realized the full potential of what this can really mean and how vital this can be.  And your ability to reach 8,000 or more jurisdictions with information, your ability to reach a nationwide audience, either through your website or through the roundtables or other forms that you do, in terms of communication, is something that no other group out there can do.  I mean, it just can’t be done.  IACREOT, Election Center do training for folks, but a lot of times we’re relying on stuff that you all have first made available.  I mean, -- or at least it gives us a way to take something that you’ve already determined and turn it into a longer program that makes people work better.  And so, those are things that, it seems to us, we really need.


Look, communication and information are your lifeblood.  Your ability to tell the nation, to tell the professional elections administration groups, and share information and share the ideas that are out there, is something not any of the rest of us can do with it.  I will tell you I ran the Election Center for 21 years, and I’ll tell you we never had enough money to do, you know, what you can do in this area.  And so, this is the one thing that I think you all just can’t ignore.  
COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:



Doug?

MR. LEWIS:



Yes?
COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:



Can I interrupt for just a second?

MR. LEWIS:



Sure, sure.

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

This actually touches on something that Chris said, but I want to get both of your opinions.  I know you talk about it in the report and it goes to this idea of core competencies.  You mention lining up duties with roles and competencies.  What core competencies must the EAC have to do, just, these things, you know, as well as the voting system -- you know the four priorities; clearinghouse, research, voting systems and accessibility, fulfilling the mandate in HAVA, as far as making the process accessible, what core competencies do we have to have as we look at, you know, staff structure, all of that? 

MR. LEWIS:

I’ll give you my opinion and Chris can certainly chime in on this.  It seems to me, look, you all have got to have people in place who can bring you stuff quickly and be effective quickly.  You’ve got to be able to know how to reach the news media, know how to make an impact, know how to share information in ways that it will be useful and can be found easily.  I think you heard criticism, both from our report, but also from the Boards, that the website, while it may look pretty, is not all that effective in some respects.  I mean, it does a lot of things and it does some of them really well, but in some respects, it needs some work to make it easier to navigate.  One of the questions we asked about the website was, you know, is anybody tracking how many times something is searched for, how many documents, you know, or what documents are being searched for.  Knowing that information, understanding that information tells you what you need to be working on to get some stuff out there.  And so, these are things that just haven’t been done.  Now, part of that again has been, you know, when you’re fighting just to stay alive sometimes you don’t get as creative as you might otherwise.  But this is where it sort of seems to us – so, skills to get to each of these areas and you want to do it -- you’ve got to have people who can do this rapidly and be really effective at it.  And so, that’s kind of what I think we’re stating. 

MR. THOMAS:

Commissioner, I would agree with Doug to the extent that you need analytical staff that know how to move through large amounts of data, which you do have, and regurgitate that into reports that are useful.  So, they’re going to have a technology background.  They’re going to have an analytical background, and they’re going to know how to work with numbers.  You know, I wouldn’t contract that out.  I think you need that in-house, because it’s there day in and day out.  You’re just going to have to find it.

And then, the other side is you’re going to need an outreach mechanism.  You’re going to need people that need to -- that are able to do the outreach, work with the media and the various means of social communication to get out there the message that you have, so that all these great things that you prepare and present are actually seen and used by the various constituency groups. 
MR. LEWIS:

Some of the research stuff that you all have done in the past, at least through grants or what have you, have turned into wonderful training materials, then, for organizations like IACREOT, and Election Center, and NASED, and even NASS, to begin to show, here’s some research that’s already been done, here’s the -- we got it into in depth, we learned some things and then you turn that into we as the NGO organizations, then turn that into something that’s really useful in terms of making the profession better.  So, that’s your value, you know.  It’s not so much that you need to supplant what they’re doing, as much as it is you need to be the frontend of the pipeline for that to come down, so that they can use it and become effective with it.  And so, that’s part of what I think we’re saying to you.  


The standards -- go ahead, go ahead, Commissioner. 

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

I’m just struck -- it’s more of an observation than a question but, you know, from Mr. King, Mr. Kelley, you guys, the consistent message is one of a tree falling in a forest, right?  No one is here to see our good work, right?  We can talk about it, but we got to find a way to show the value of that work.  And that has clearly been communicated here today.  There’s no question about that. 

MR. LEWIS:

As a nation, you know, sometimes you get with people, and we all assume that good work, itself, gets known.  That’s just not true, you know, just not so.  And so, if you’re not actually showing us that you have done some good work, and that you got it available, and that we can use it, and that we can get better with it, then we don’t know that you contributed anything.  And so, that’s part of it.

That next area of concentration, certainly the standards development and voting systems qualification.  As you all know, I mean, you weren’t the Commissioners before, and you weren’t the Commissioners during the period where this was getting a lot of criticism, but it was getting a lot of criticism.  It was slow.  It didn’t move fast enough, it didn’t deliver what folks wanted.  I will say to you, I think that area of your concentration, for this Commission, has gotten better.  Is it totally healthy yet?  Probably not.  Is it giving everything that everybody hopes out of it?  Not probably yet, but it’s getting there.  And for you all, for Alice and the staff that’s there, and the voting systems group, and the other employees at the agency, they listened when those criticisms got at high volumes, and began to make some adjustments and shifts and looking at ways to give a better product and to be more responsive to the needs.  
I think, you know, from our standpoint as elections administrators and representing elections administrators over the years, we are on short cycles, and we can’t wait forever, you know.  I mean, understanding that we have to run elections and that there is a time schedule for that, means that the Commission itself has to respond to that, and the staff at the Commission has to respond.  It is not enough to say, “Well, we’ll get to it when we we’ll get to it.”  It’s got to be, “We’ll get to it so that when you get ready to run an even numbered election year, we’ve given you the tools and the ability to get things responsive enough so that you don’t go into that even numbered election year having to wait for somebody to make a decision, you know, that it’s already been done for you in those odd numbered years, and we can get used to it and make the adjustments.  
VICE-CHAIR HICKS:

Doug, I agree with that a hundred percent, but I want to make sure that I defend the staff in terms of making sure that -- and what I’m hearing is that with the system development and voting system qualifications, to make sure that systems in the past that have been put forth that have not been ready for that sort of testing, and so, things that have taken years for it to be developed and certified, to ensure that they’re actually ready to be certified at that point.  So, to go with Masterson’s speech yesterday, to make sure that we go from years to months in certifying equipment, but to make sure that that equipment is ready to be certified. 

MR. LEWIS:

Well, and I think we feel like you’re on the right path, I really do.  And I think there’s been a considerable shift on this and that’s -- it’s – this is so frustrating, and I know it’s got to be frustrating to staff, too.  As you all know, I ran that program for NASED for ten years, you know, before the feds got involved in it, and you’re right, Tom.  I’m going to tell you, some of the vendors tell you, “Oh yeah, we’re in for testing” when they haven’t done a damn thing, you know?  And so -- or they’re the reason that it’s held up, you know?  And so, this is not a criticism of the staff in that sense, it is, it’s a recognition that it’s been a problem and to you all’s credit you have addressed the problem and begun to do something about it, and that’s all we can ask for.  

MR. THOMAS:

Yes, and I think the history is that your staff made some very strategic moves.  Brian made it real clear, as they started publishing, where the vendors were and the manufacturers were and where the EAC staff, on each of these certification efforts.  So, it made it very clear when the vendors were the ones that you’re all awaiting upon.  And I think that was illuminating to the elections community, because there were a lot of different stories floating around out there in that vendor community.  So yeah, we’re pleased with reaction that has occurred.  
Now, we’re seeing the next step here, which would be the next iteration of standards coming out of the Presidential Commission, the talk about the need to make sure that these standards and this process are not holding back innovation.  And we’ve seen great direction there, and I think that’s your real challenge that’s before you now, is to take that ball and run with it and get the next iteration underway.  And that will be no easy task.  That will be a large climb.  But, clearly, the flexibility that’s needed in the future with the different kinds of software-only systems is going to make this a challenging process all the way around.
MR. LEWIS: 

And you’ve got some really good people working on this stuff.  So, I mean, we don’t have any qualms about the quality and capability of the people you’ve got working on it.  It’s -- and whether the criticisms were justified or not, they were there.  And so, you all have recognized that, responded to that, and so, I think you’re on the right path there.  

MR. THOMAS:

Sure, so, you know, we’ve made some comments, you know, under the NIST/EAC relationship, in that it deals with the standards here.  But one thing we do say under there, without getting into the money issue, right now, is, it would be nice to start looking at any kind of adjustment to HAVA that would allow the TGDC to be modified, and to give the Commission much more flexibility to design the type of workgroups that are essential, so that everybody is at the table, and I think we would get a better and more efficient set of standards out of that.


And the other thing that I would urge you all, you know, this IEEE common data format which is a marvelous idea, there’s no question about it, that that will solve all kinds of problems, they may need a deadline.

[Laughter]

MR. THOMAS:

This has been discussed for just a few years now, maybe a decade, we could go.  And I know it’s tough and I know the meetings have a huge number of people involved, and it’s not an easy nut to crack.  But -- and John Wack, from NIST, is doing a great job of really putting some oomph behind that, and I think they’re close.  And it would be nice to see the Commission say, “Okay folks, you know, this is so central to voting systems, as to what this common format may be, is, let’s get something out there.”  It may not be the perfect, and if you have to fix it later fine, but it’s time to move on that.

MR. LEWIS:

They may be the only people that are slower than eternal, you know, at this point, and so, we’ve got to get this moving, and so, that’s -- and I think Chris’ point is well taken.


Our final area, of at least the core missions, for you all is that we’re recommending to you that accessibility issues take a front and center role on behalf and done through and by and with the EAC.  The Help America Vote Act made a promise to America’s voters with disabilities.  It said we are going to change things so that you can vote privately and independently.  And then, we have retrenched on that and reneged on that, for whatever reasons.  I mean, there are a whole complicating host of issues that came up and commitment levels and what have you.  I don’t think we can afford to renege on that anymore, not simply, because it’s a civil rights issue, and that ought to be enough, you know, I mean, in terms of this, but there’s -- I think there’s been this tendency to say, “Well, that really only applies to ten, 12, 14, 15 percent of the public and therefore, you know, I mean, how much time and money do we need to spend on it”?  Look folks, this is going to be a huge exponential growth, in terms of people who need assistance, as people my age, that bunch of baby boomers, you know, that’s defined by the Census Bureau.  That bunch of baby boomers is living longer and we all are at the point where we either can’t hear well, or see well, or walk well, or sit well, or have mobility issues or motor skill issues or sight issues.  And so, it seems to us that this shouldn’t have to wait a whole hell of a lot longer for us to get serious about this.  And so, it was one of the tenets of HAVA.  It’s one of the promises of HAVA, and it was one of the things that the Help America Vote Act indicated needed to get fixed and done.  And so, it seems to us it needs to be a priority of this agency.  And so, if we’re going to end up with 30 to 35, and maybe higher, percentages of this, the voters who vote the most often are those 55, 60 and older.  Those are the ones who participate the most.  It’s not -- that’s not a political statement, that’s just a reality, that’s just the way things are.  And so, it means that we’re probably going to have change polling place design, we’re going to have to figure out ways that people can sit, we’re going to have figure out how to process people who have cognitive issues, who have sight issues, who have mobility issues, who have motor skills.  And so, this is just something that needs to be a priority.
CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:

Doug, I think you’re right about that.  I think we don’t do enough in that area.  I mean, obviously, we’ve only been here for a short time, but it is a priority and I think we all feel that way.

When we say it’s a priority, how do you see it fitting into the mission?  For example, does it work through the guidelines, does it work through the clearinghouse procedure, does it have a separate mechanism, do we have separate staff assigned to work on these issues, do we just -- does it cross all of our core missions?  How do you see this working?  

MR. LEWIS:

The ideal -- and the ideal situation is that you got enough money to just go hire folks and get after it, but that -- as you know, that’s not reality, and that’s not where we are right now, particularly with appropriators and others.  I – clearly, this is across every mission.  I mean, you can’t just say it’s only this and we focus only on that.  It’s going to be about standards.  It’s going to be about development.  It’s going to be about clearinghouse information.  One of the things the whole elections nation needs to get used to and ready for is making information about registration, et cetera, on their websites, so that it’s accessible to anybody, so that it’s not just for sighted, or not just for those who truly know how to navigate the web, et cetera.  And so, I would say to you, yes, I think you probably are going to need one or two staff members who look at these issues so that they can integrate with the rest of the staff.  It’s not that they get to the point that all they can do is this, but I do think they need to see ways and look for ways of how we make this process better throughout.

VICE-CHAIR HICKS:

Are you also suggesting, I guess, like not necessarily staff devoted to that, but a percentage of their work schedule being devoted to that?

MR. LEWIS:

Well look, you guys have got the tough decision.  You all and your Executive Director are going to have the tough decision about, you know, who gets hired, and who does what, and who gets assigned principal responsibility for what.  In my mind, yes, you need one or two specialists.  You need -- but you’ve also got considerable resources at the Federal Government level where, you know, the Access Board, the disability groups that are in Washington will be glad to provide you a lot of wealth of information and expertise that you couldn’t hire any other way.  And so, I think if you can’t create positions, initially, you’ve certainly got resources available at both the federal level and at the NGO level that can give you input and make some of this work a whole lot better.

MR. THOMAS:

Yeah, and I think that as you focus on what your priorities are and
 what products, when you get down to that level, in terms of what studies, the clearinghouse, and as they move with the next iteration of guidelines, is that somebody needs to be looking at each of those to say, “All right, is there a disability issue involved here that needs to be addressed?”  And I think that will start to sort out, then, how much staff resource you’re going to have to devote to it during that particular project.  So, it’s, really, each thing you do, you’re going to have to take that look.
COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:



Yeah, this – oh, I’m sorry… 

VICE-CHAIR LEWIS:



Go on.

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

This issue strikes me, again, a little bit as a tree falling in the forest, in that the EAC funded and done some really good work in this area already, right, in looking how to leverage that and get that out there again, and talk about it, and engage those folks that worked on these projects to improve it.  I mean, there are improvements I think we can make very, very quickly in this area due to that research and information that we could leverage, immediately, to move forward.  And so, that -- I mean that -- you know, if you look short and long-term at how to deal with this, you know, just identifying what we’ve already done and how to use it better could really move us forward in a big way, you know.  I mean, the RAV grant stuff and the work that Dr. Gilbert and the Election Center and others have done in this, is an interesting thing to look at and figure out how best to use it quickly.

MR. LEWIS:

Yeah, I mean, you guys invested some money in this, some real money in this, and the product out of that is, actually, I think accessibility groups were sort of surprised, too, as they got into it.  Certainly, as elections organizations, we were a little bit surprised at some of the things we learned, too.  And if there’s any reinforcement that is really there, it is that some of this is tougher to solve than it looks like, and yet, at the same time, if we don’t make effort toward it, and we can work toward it, we’re never going to fix it.  And so, this is really sort of a critical juncture need.  And you’re right, I mean, the beauty of the accessibility community and the elections community working together, through the grants that you all did in this, is that it did indeed solidify some directions that are there that I think you all can rely on in some of this.  
And so, Chris -- and I think Chris already, in terms of the other areas of concern, Chris referred to the NIST stuff, and so, I’m going to bypass that.  

I think we were struck with that you all need a real sense of urgency in this.  And I think, you, as Commissioners, feel that sense of urgency, but the urgency must be felt from top to bottom within the agency, and at a pace that may not be comfortable.  It just may have to be that the work pace is going to have to increase enormously in order for you all to end up in the place you want to be, which is a permanent agency that actually does the good work we know you all can do and have done in the past.  And so, it seems to us you’re going to have to sort of do that.  


Teleworking is one of those concepts we looked at for you.  We don’t understand the concept.  I mean, it’s not that we don’t understand the concept.  It’s just that we don’t have any experience with it.  Certainly, it seems to us you’re going to need some policies there for a whole lot more control, in terms of this and whether it’s appropriate that every employee be able to use it, or for a period of time, whether any employee could use it.  I mean, those are things you all are going to have to look at and determine.  From our standpoint, it’s going to present you with some unique challenges, particularly when you’ve got a short window of looking how you get to where you want to be.  And so, I think we’re recommending to you that you need strong policies in this area, so that you know where you’re going with it.

Other than that -- and I think, you know, we covered a little bit about staff response to Commissioners’ briefings.  They like it.  Your staff liked being briefed by you all.  They were hungry for it, and in fact, told us they wanted more of it.  It’s like all things that are good thing, you know.  You can have too much of a good thing, and so, you know, you sort of got to get to the point where you understand that briefings are not replacements for management of the staff.  You’re going to have to figure out the appropriate role of Commissioners versus staff, in being able to make this work, and how often is often enough, and how often is too often and what have you.  But right now, I will say to you your staff wants your involvement, they like hearing from you, they like knowing that you all have got some ideas about the direction of the agency and some of those plans and programs for the agency.  And so, I think we were impressed that they wanted more of it.
MR. THOMAS:

Yeah, and I think that with any commission, and pardon me, Commissioner Hicks for putting you back through this again, my comment that I made this morning at the Board, but as I was undertaking this role, I was talking with my immediate supervisor in Michigan, the COO out there, Mr. Senyko, who had been a city manager for years before coming to work for state government -- county government and state government, and you know, I was saying, “Well, it’s this whole issue of policy versus administration.” And he pointed me right away to, well, Woodrow Wilson, you know, laid that out in the 1800s sometime, that you know there’s this distinct separation of the two.  And it’s a nice theory, but it doesn’t work in the real world.  
So, it’s a balance that, really, you all are going to have the opportunity to find, of how that works with your Executive Director and management staff, and you all, obviously, are the policymakers.  They will help influence that policy, but on the whole, they’ll also be doing the managing.  So, it’s just a nice balance that you all have to figure that one out.  And, you know, I would encourage you to do that as you go forward, looking for your Executive Director, and going through that process.
MR. LEWIS: 
And maybe our final comment, and this is contained within those other areas, is that it seems to us, you’re a little light on the experienced election staff, and so -- and maybe it’s tough to find people who want to come and live out of local areas, to live and work in Washington, D.C.  And certainly, living and working in Washington, D.C. is not cheap, but you need more elections experience.  If you’re an Election Assistance Commission, you need more elections simply because it then makes everything more applied, more real world, more understanding.  It’s good for the rest of the staff, too, because they get to hear how this actually operates, and how a decision that’s made here or a program that’s designed here or information that is requested here, actually comes through at that same level of where the rubber meets the road.  
And so, that’s our final comment to you, and then, we’ll answer anything you want, or take criticism for anything you want.  That’s it.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:

Well, I want to thank you both for taking on a task that I think was enormous for the time period that we gave to you to do it.  We under -- you know, you went well above and beyond what we expected.  This is extremely valuable for us in forming our decisions going forward.  You know, I hear themes, as the other Commissioners have mentioned, throughout the day, from our reports from you and from the Standards Board and from the Board of Advisors and from the meetings in the past couple of days.  We have lots and lots and lots of information.  We need to figure out how to get our arms around it, and how to get it out to those folks who need it from us.  We also have to look at how we can be of assistance, and to be a service agency as opposed to a regulatory agency that puts forward, you know, what people think of as mandatory federal regulations.  We’re not that agency.  We have, obviously, a lot of work to do.  We have a lot of people to impress in a short period of time.  I think you’ve given us some guidance on how we might start approaching that, and I want to thank you very much for your hard work, for your ability to come in and speak to our staff, and to get their input and to put it all into a report to us that is meaningful, in such a short period of time.

So, with that I’ll ask the other Commissioners if they have other comments they want to make.  Vice-Chair Hicks, do you have anything?
VICE-CHAIR HICKS:

Yes, thank you.  I want to thank you both for putting this together, I know that it was a hard task to do in such a short amount of time, and the staff, for working with you and moving forward with this.


A very wise woman once said to me, communication is a key to successful relationship.  Without communication you don’t have that relationship.  I think that this report is doing us a great deal of favors in terms of giving us the communication tools that we need to move forward.  We’ve hit the ground running.  We’ve done a lot of things in a short amount of time that we’ve been confirmed and sworn in.  I think that we have a lot of work to do.  

That being said, I think that the staff knows that we have a lot of work to do with them, and them with us.  And you’ve already said this in terms of, they’ve appreciated us actually talking to them and briefing them on our thoughts in moving forward with things.  I think that we have a lot of difficult choices ahead, and it’s not going to be easy, but I think that we are poised to do that.


So, I want to thank you again.  If there’s anything else that you want to talk to us about, feel free.  You have our phone numbers, our e-mails, and so forth.  And I look forward to, actually, implementing this.  

MR. LEWIS:

Before we leave Commissioner, let me, at least, say to you all, from our standpoint, it is so nice to see three people who are bipartisan, at a Washington level, being able to sit down and agree with each other on what needs to be done.  You’re going to have differences of opinions sometimes on this or that, and there are going to be sometimes that you’re forced by your parties to take positions that will not be altogether.  But right now, the three of you are exhibiting what all of Washington needs to learn to follow, that is that we can do this birpartisanly and make accomplishment.  And I’m going to say to all of you, your stakeholders out there, elections administrators, advocacy groups, people who need assistance in voting, people who are engaged in this process want you to be successful, whether policymakers at the federal level want you to do that or not, I’m going to tell you the stakeholder community does.  And so, from that standpoint we want to commend you all.
COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

Thank you for that, I appreciate it.  And I know the three of us have worked very hard to have that decorum level of communication.  Having been a staffer at the EAC at other times, I know how difficult it can be when that’s not the case, and so, we’ve worked very hard at that.  So, I appreciate you saying that. 

I want to thank you both, as well.  I know the time and effort any report that suggests that people want to listen to me more is a good report.  That’s a report I can support.  So I appreciate that.

[Laughter]

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

I think this gives us a good roadmap to look at and move forward.  I think it gives us a good outline of where we need to focus, both functionally, but, as well -- you know, on what skill sets we need at the EAC to move us forward.  So, I appreciate your honesty.  I appreciate the staff’s willingness to speak openly and honestly with you all, as well.  I know that’s something that was important to them, and they did a great job at that.  And so, I appreciate what you’ve done.  And I think we -- all three of us anticipate taking this and using this quickly to move the agency forward, frankly, in conjunction with the work of the Standards Board and Board of Advisors that we started this week.  So, this is perfectly timed for us and gives us the path forward that we need to do that.  So, I thank you both.  I hope it was worth your time and energy.  And Chris, I wish you luck.  

MR. THOMAS:
Thank you very much.  Yeah, this has been very special to me, as you all know.  And I won’t make any announcements here that I might have to take back later on.

[Laughter]

MR. THOMAS:
I just want to say I very much appreciate your leadership in the field of election administration, and you all have set the good tone and that’s a large part of the issue.  So, thanks so much.

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:



Thank you.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:

Thank you, I appreciate that.  I think it was important for us to hear from outside independent parties, also.  I think, you know, we could talk to the staff and we could make decisions ourselves, but it was important to us to have members of the election administration community, who have been in this role, who understand what we are facing, to provide us with your wisdom and advice.  So, thank you so much.  Thank you for the kind comments.  We’re working hard and we’ll continue to work hard, and hopefully provide leadership for the election administration community that’s worthy of all of the work that they do.  So, thanks very much.
COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

At this point, I would move to accept the report from Mr. Thomas and Mr. Lewis.

VICE-CHAIR HICKS:



I second that.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:



Any further discussion?  

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:



And also, to have it posted to the Website.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:

Okay, hearing no further discussion, we’ll take a vote.  All those in favor of accepting the report of Mr. Thomas and Mr. Lewis, our Transition Team, please say aye. 

[The motion carried unanimously.]

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:

Hearing no opposition, we accept the report of the Transition Team.  Thank you both very much for your work.


So, I think we’re going to make some closing remarks at the moment.  Mr. Lewis made mention about the glacial pace of federal agencies, and I just want to bring it, in the spirit of advertising, what we do here.  I want to bring to the attention of folks that we have been on this job for a little over three months, and in that time we have accredited a new voting systems testing laboratory, we’ve approved an update to the voluntary voting system guidelines, we’ve approved updates to laboratory program certification manuals, we’ve approved eight pending advisory opinions on request  on use of HAVA funds, we have approved a pending research report, we have reconstituted the Standards Board and the Board of Advisors, we have opened up a search for a General Counsel, we, through the Standards Board and Board of Advisors, have opened up an Executive Director search, we have hired a Transition Team to inform us of how -- our path forward, we have held a roundtable on the next steps and priorities of the Commission, we have visited numerous jurisdictions throughout the country, and we have established relationships with many of the stakeholder agencies and partners in the election administration community.  And we have just started and we continue -- we hope to continue on that pace.  
We expected a lot out of our staff supporting us and getting all of those items done, and it is a lot of work for three people in a federal agency to get done in a little over three months.  So, we want to thank those of you who are here supporting us.  We want to thank those of you who are giving us advice, in helping us move forward.  And hopefully, we will continue the good work of this agency and that others will see the good work that this agency can produce.  And that is our hope, and it is our work going forward.  

So, Commissioner Hicks, if you have comments, please add them.

VICE-CHAIR HCKS:

I want to echo what you said and just add that we also worked towards a transition for our IG, as well.  And, you know, that’s a lot to do in three months.  And I just want to echo what you were saying, Chairwoman McCormick, and yield back.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:



Commissioner Masterson, do you have closing comments?

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:


I just have a couple of thank yous, and of course, echo your message.  It’s been a pleasure and actually a lot of fun to get this done and to work with everybody to do it.  So, I appreciate it.


I do want to thank, and would be remiss in not thanking, Miles and the Yorktel folks for doing the webinar.  Traveling down here, they actually had to repair their moving truck on the way down or get repairs to it, so excellent effort, and Brad and Diaz, who are always here to do the transcription and do a great job.  So, I appreciate all the work of the staff and everybody.  And I think, at this point, you know, I’m done, we’re done, and we can head to have some refreshments.  

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:

I’ll just add to that, you know, there were folks here in Williamsburg that were helpful to us, too, the James City County Police Department, with the color guard yesterday morning, who, actually, gave up other opportunities to be here to support the election community, and the mayor of Williamsburg, as well, which we very much appreciated his welcome to this community.


Again, we thank all of you for being here at our third public meeting.  We have lots more work to do and we look forward to working with all of you.


With that, I’ll take a motion for adjournment.

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:



I move to adjourn.

VICE-CHAIR HICKS:



I second.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:



Meeting adjourned.  

***

[The meeting of the EAC adjourned at 4:16 p.m. EDT.]
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